PROVI SI ONAL

E/ 1999/ SR. 26
29 July 1999

Oiginal: ENGLISH

ECONOM C AND SOCI AL COUNCI L
Subst antive session of 1999
PROVI SI ONAL SUMVARY RECORD OF THE 26t h MEETI NG
Hel d at the Palais des Nations, Geneva,

on Wednesday, 14 July 1999, at 10 a.m

Presi dent: M. SYCHOV (Bel arus)
(Vi ce-President)

CONTENTS

SPECI AL ECONOM C, HUMANI TARI AN AND DI SASTER RELI EF ASSI STANCE (conti nued)

Corrections to this record should be submitted in one of the working
| anguages. They should be set forth in a menorandum and al so incorporated in
a copy of the record. They should be sent within one week of the date of this
docunent to the Oficial Records Editing Section, roomE. 4108, Pal ai s des
Nat i ons, Geneva.

GE. 99- 64389 (E)



E/ 1999/ SR. 26
page 2

In the absence of M. Fulci (ltaly), M. Sychov (Belarus),
Vice-President, took the Chair

The neeting was called to order at 10.15 a.m

SPECI AL ECONOM C, HUMANI TARI AN AND DI SASTER RELI EF ASSI STANCE (agenda item 5)
(continued) (A/54/129-E/ 1999/73, A/ 54/130-E 1999/72, A/ 54/153-E/ 1999/93 and
A/ 54/ 154- E/ 1999/ 94; E/1999/82, 97 and 98; E/ 1999/ CRP.2 and CRP. 3)

Panel on natural disasters
Ms. LEITNER (Resi dent Coordi nator for China) said that the huge

fl oods experienced in 1998 had been the greatest for a century in the South of
China and for five centuries in the North-East. Forewarned by their
scientists, the Chinese authorities had been able to do nuch preparatory work,
a large nunmber of civilian and mlitary personnel being nobilized to protect
human settlements and the |lives of the people. Their efforts had been
extremely successful: while some 228 mi|lion people had been affected, only
4,100 lives had been lost. Another exceptional feature was that, for the
first tinme ever, the Chinese Governnent had requested the United Nations
system through the Ofice for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs (OCHA)
to launch an international appeal for energency relief. |Immediately on
recei pt of the governnent request, OCHA, in consultation with the country

of fice of the United Nations Devel opment Progranme (UNDP) and the Resident
Coordi nator, had prepared an assessnment m ssion. The mission had ended with a
public appeal that was w dely publicized, both nationally and internationally.
The docunent showed the assessed needs, identified the |lead agency and |imted
the duration of the appeal to four nonths. The choice of itens, as well as
the nodality for channelling the assistance, was left to the donors, nost of
whom chose the United Nations agency identified as the | ead agency in the
appeal. International attention had focused |argely on the floods in the
Sout h, but the United Nations team had succeeded in channelling sone
assistance to the Northern areas as well, thus contributing to a nore
equitable distribution of relief funds.

I nformati on published by Chinese scientists over recent decades had
shown the cost of natural disasters to be growing as fast as the country's
gross donestic product (GDP). Cearly, in the long run, China would be
wel | -advi sed to invest nore in neasures for prevention and preparedness, as

well as for longer-termrehabilitation. The country team had therefore



E/ 1999/ SR. 26
page 3

| aunched a second open-ended appeal in support of national preventive
measures. Unfortunately, the response so far fromthe international community
had not been very forthcom ng

The | esson that had been | earned was that the organizations of the
United Nations system could work together successfully, bringing synergies to
bear that were of benefit to national as well as internationally-funded reli ef
operations. Because of coordination and cooperation, the rate of response to
the first appeal had been al nost 85 per cent (US$ 117 million of the
US$ 139 million asked for). Though the Chinese authorities had nounted a
hi ghly successful relief and rescue canpaign of their own, they had benefited
in several ways fromthe United Nations involvenent. The United Nations
system al l owed the international donors to disburse their funds quickly and
reach identifiable target groups. The system had al so nonitored the various
relief progranmes assisted by international funds, reporting regularly over a
one-year period.

As a followup to the relief operations, the Under-Secretary-General for
Humani tarian Affairs, during his visit to China in Decenber 1998, had proposed
that the Chinese Governnment should hold a sem nar/workshop for participants
from Chi na and ot her devel oping countries with a view to comparing disaster
management systens. That workshop, hosted by the Chi nese Governnent and
co-sponsored by UNDP and OCHA, had been held in Beijing in June 1999. There
had been participants from 20 countries, not including China, and from
22 organi zations of the United Nations system The proceedi ngs had ended with
a nunber of recommendations for future technical cooperation anong devel opi ng
countries (TCDC) in the area of disaster prevention and preparedness as well
as relief, rehabilitation and reconstruction. A report had been published on
the workshop and its results.

M. LOCKWOOD (Resident Coordinator for Bangl adesh) said that

Bangl adesh had faced repeated natural disasters, alnopst annually, for a very
long tine. Its population currently stood at about 130 million people, sone
hal f of whom|ived bel ow the poverty line. The country's devel opnent process
was totally interwoven with the sequence of disasters in the formof floods
and cycl ones.

In 1998, Bangl adesh had suffered one of the worst floods in its history,

simlar in many respects to the flood in China, both in its severity and in



E/ 1999/ SR. 26
page 4

the capacity of the Government and the donor community to respond to the
emergency. An assessnment of the situation in Bangladesh 12 nonths | ater made
it clear that the recovery process had been exceptional, for a variety of
reasons. Certain key issues had affected the coordi nati on of assistance and
contributed to the successful outcome. First of all, the floods that affected
Bangl adesh were an annual occurrence. Alnpost the entire country was a fl ood
plain, |lying downstreamof two of the biggest rivers in Asia, and those rivers
overfl owed every summer affecting some 25 to 30 mllion people. As a result,

t he popul ati on was accustomed to coping with floods, which al so brought
certain benefits. The main problemwas ensuring that the damge to food crops
was successfully limted. Danage to the infrastructure, while serious, did
not affect the people's survival. |In 1998, sonme three weeks after the start
of the flooding, the governnment of Bangl adesh had begun to seek internationa
assistance. The initial government approach had been packaged by UNDP in the
formof a single document calling for US$ 600 mllion of assistance. The
United Nations had i mediately fielded an OCHA mission. It was decided that a
first appeal should be made for energency assistance, separate from
rehabilitation needs. Wthin seven days, the Secretary-General had | aunched
an initial appeal for US$ 223 mllion of energency assistance. The response,
as recorded by OCHA, slightly exceeded the anmount requested. That exceptiona
response was indicative in part of the gravity of the situation in Bangl adesh,
and in part an awareness, stemmi ng from many years of experience, of

Bangl adesh's inability to manage w thout assistance. It cane mainly in the
formof food aid commtnments, totalling about one mllion tons, which had
enabl ed the Governnent to release its own reserves to the nost severely

af fected peopl e.

Anot her critical factor in the success of the operation was the
identification of key rehabilitation needs, including seeds to replace those
damaged by the flood. Not only had standing crops been destroyed, but the
seed beds for the subsequent wi nter crop had been devastated, an even nore
serious consequence. Wth the help of the Food and Agriculture O ganization
(FAO, the Mnistry of Agriculture had nounted a very detail ed assessnent
m ssion which had identified seed and fertilizer needs. A nassive
distribution effort over the next three nonths had resulted in a bunper crop

in the spring, the main reason for the very successful recovery. The Wrld



E/ 1999/ SR. 26
page 5

Bank's estimates, produced during the floods, of the inmpact on the econony had
predicted a drop in the growmh rate to 3.5 per cent. By the early sumer of
1999, the Mnistry of Finance was able to forecast a gromh rate

of 5.2 per cent, far better than had first been predicted, because of the
successful harvest.

As far as coordi nati on was concerned, it was renmarkabl e how di saster had
brought a teamtogether. Daily problens of collaboration tended to be
forgotten. The various nenbers of the United Nations country teamin
Bangl adesh had conpl enented each other in many ways. The bringing together of
agenci es bearing resources, such as the World Food Programe (WFP), the
United Nations Children's Fund (UNI CEF) and UNDP, with technical agencies
speci alizing in damage assessnment had resulted in an extraordi nary package of
expertise. The international financial organizations had made a significant
contribution by reallocating |oans al ready approved or determ ni ng new
priorities within them They had thus greatly facilitated the Government's
ability to respond pronptly to the needs identified by the assessment m ssion
It had been presuned at first that a second appeal would have to be made for
rehabilitation. That was subsequently found to be unnecessary, as the
reworking by the nmultilateral lending institutions of existing |oans reduced
the need for new and additional commtnments by bilateral donors.

M. OBERTI (Resident Coordinator for the Dom nican Republic) said
that, on 22 Septenber 1998, the Dom nican Republic had been hit by hurricane
Ceorges, the nost devastating natural phenonenon since hurricane David of
1979. GCeorges had |l eft behind some 300 dead and 300, 000 refugees, or about
4 per cent of the total population. There was also major damage to crops and
the yields of basic foodstuffs declined sharply. In terns of |oss of
infrastructure, the country's tel ecomruni cati ons system and the electricity
and water distribution networks had suffered heavy danmage. Many bridges and
hi ghways were al so danaged or destroyed. A mission by the Econom ¢ Com ssion
for Latin America and the Caribbean had visited the country in the aftermath
of the hurricane and had estimated the total econom ¢ damage at
US$ 2.1 billion.

In the days follow ng the hurricane, several coordinating neetings had
been hel d between United Nati ons agencies and their national and internationa

counterparts to secure a pronpt and coordi nated response to the emergency.



E/ 1999/ SR. 26
page 6

Those efforts had been effectively supported by a United Nations disaster
assessnment and coordi nati on (UNDAC) team sent by OCHA which had prepared a
first prelimnary evaluation of the damage so as to facilitate energency
relief activities. Based on the mission's recomendations and with initia
energency funds provided by UNDP and OCHA, a conprehensive United Nations
programe of emergency assi stance and reconstruction was inmplenmented. Its
mai n obj ective was to provide support to the Governnent and to secure a snooth
transition fromthe energency situation to integrated sustai nabl e devel oprment.

The programre conbi ned the supply of enmergency itens, such as water
equi pnent and construction materials, with technical assistance and the
i ntroduction of income-generating activities in |local comunities affected by
the hurricane. That idea was to integrate short-term needs and | ong-term
devel opnent objectives in sone of the poorest and nost vul nerable comrunities.
The nost inportant feature of that progranmme, which was still in progress, was
the active participation of the |Iocal people in its inplenmentation, through
nei ghbour hood organi zati ons and | ocal comunity comrmittees. The inputs
mobi | i zed i ncluded technical, financial and operational assistance from both
multilateral and bilateral sources, as well as contributions fromsevera
| ocal and international non-governnental organizations (NG3s) and fromthe
United Nations Staff Association, totalling a little over US$ 660, 000.

WFP had al so made a sustained contribution, amounting to nore than
US$ 6 nmillion, including a contribution fromthe United States.

At the sanme time, in response to the recommendati ons of the ECLAC
m ssion, the Government sought to obtain additional funding through | oans from
the Inter-Anerican Devel opnment Bank (I ADB) and the World Bank, both of which
were currently being processed.

A nunber of | essons had been | earned fromthe operation in the Dom nican
Republic. First of all, apart from UNDP and OCHA, the agencies did not have
any specific enmergency funds. They relied on their ongoing progranmes or on
funds received fromdonors in response to direct energency appeals. The need
for each agency to address the concerns of its clients made their
i nterventions rather scattered and coordination nore difficult. Donors, on
t he other hand, tended to react to their own constituencies, generally opting
for direct intervention, often through |ocal or international NGOs, thereby

allowing for little intervention on the part of the central Governnent or



E/ 1999/ SR. 26
page 7

| ocal governments. In the Dom nican Republic, the close cooperation and
coordi nati on between the World Bank and UNDP and between the Wrld Bank and
the Wrld Health Organi zati on (WHO) had been very hel pful. The three

organi zations had interacted cl osely anong thensel ves and there had been good
liaison with national and local authorities during the emergency phase and, in
the case of the Wirld Bank and UNDP, during the reconstruction phase, through
the rescheduling of |oans so as to attend to basic needs.

The fragility of national institutions in the Dom nican Republic had
been very noticeable, despite nore than two years of technical cooperation
provi ded by UNDP. The bottl eneck thus caused had been recogni zed by the
authorities and by the international financial institutions and a significant
proportion of the energency |oans approved by the 1 ADB and the World Bank
after the event had been designed to address those weaknesses and to pronote
institutional reformin support of disaster preparedness and nmitigation. NMbst
of the reforns recommended had a fair chance of being fully inplenented during
the current hurricane season

The strong operational presence of UNDP had proved to be very responsive
and efficient in meeting the nost i mmedi ate needs. |Its capacity, however, had
been sonewhat underutilized, owing to the |ack of additional financia
support. Its capacity had been nmade available to the authorities and the
maj or donors, all of which were currently undertaking major efforts in the
reconstructi on phase. UNDP stood ready to provide the necessary support to
any ot her donor which mght wish to work with it and the United Nations system
on behalf of the necessary transition, as the country noved fromthe energency
and reconstruction phases towards sustai nabl e human devel opnent.

Ms. MESA (Resident Coordinator for Honduras) said that, when
anal ysing the response of the United Nations systemto the disaster in
Honduras, it was essential to consider the context in which hurricane Mtch
had struck: nanely, an environment characterized by poverty, social and
ecol ogical vulnerability and inequity. The inmediate reaction of the
Presi dent of Honduras to the disaster had been that it provided an opportunity
for fundanental change. The revival of awareness and interest in |ong-term
devel opnent issues offered a challenge to the international community in

general and the United Nations systemin particular



E/ 1999/ SR. 26
page 8

As far as the i mredi ate response of the United Nations systemto the
energency was concerned, she agreed with the Resident Coordinator for
Bangl adesh that, when a country team was faced with a real energency, al
di fferences di sappeared. At the sanme time, several problens had been
encountered, one being the adm nistrative capacity of each office. Severa
agencies felt that one inportant | esson of the emergency, which could apply in
all cases, was the need to strengthen that capacity fromthe outset. That was
critical not only for the first phase of an energency but al so for
adm ni stering and reporting on the special additional resources nade avail abl e
by donors for both the enmergency and recovery phase.

The preparation of the Transitional Appeal had been an excell ent
coordi nati on exercise confirmng the spirit of cooperation that had devel oped
in recent years anong the entities of the systemin Honduras. However, the
short tinetable for the preparation process, at a tinme when all energies were
directed to managi ng the humani tari an response, had not allowed for a
conprehensi ve assessnent of energency needs or the devel opnent of specific
action plans, or the active participation of governnent officials, donors and
NGOs. The Appeal had been | aunched only a few days before the | ADB
Consul tative Group Meeting, when attention was |argely concentrated on the
preparations for that Meeting, and the direct response was relatively neagre.

At the country level, once the critical period of search and rescue was
over, support for the recovery and rehabilitation phase had started
i medi ately. Sectoral groups had worked on preparing the Common Country
Assessnent (CCA) and various programe franmeworks. The Government had relied
greatly on the assistance of the United Nations systemin preparing for the
| ADB Consultative Group Meeting for Reconstruction and Transformation of
Central Anerica. Another inportant contribution of the United Nations system
had been to brief and assist the nunmerous bilateral donor assessment m ssions
which visited the country. Several thematic groups had been established, the
nmost successful being those on infrastructure and environnent.

Transport and comuni cation difficulties meant that a field operations
network had to be developed to facilitate links with the people and to nonitor
priority needs and relief activities. It was clear that, in the short- and
mediumterm the nost realistic and |asting contribution that the

United Nations could nake woul d be to strengthen the local |evel so as to



E/ 1999/ SR. 26
page 9

ensure an adequate transition fromrelief to rehabilitation, reconstruction
and devel opment. A nunber of projects were developed to that end, bringing in
nore than US$ 70 mllion of financing frombilateral and nultilateral donors.
Their inplementation was being closely nonitored but increasing the

i npl enmenting rate was a major challenge. To that end, the United Nations
system was working with the national authorities on possible alternatives, one
bei ng di rect execution.

Quality of life in Honduras had declined as a direct effect of the
hurri cane, affecting all segnents of the population. The United Nations
system was engaged in an effort to assess the inmpact. Prelimnary data showed
that the numbers in extrenme poverty could be expected to increase from22 to
32 per cent, an increase of about 600,000 persons or 10 per cent of the
popul ati on.

The Master Plan for Reconstruction and Transformati on, agreed upon by
the Consultative Group at Stockhol m enphasized the transformati on of society.
The Pl an covered a vast range of topics, fromspecific investnment projects to
comunity participation, planning and di saster preparedness. The whole
context in which hurricane Mtch had struck the country nust be changed if an
even nore destructive disaster was to be prevented.

M. PLATTE (Gernany) said he would like to know first of all how
the resident representatives in the disaster-struck countries had managed the
transition to their extra responsibilities as humanitarian coordinators.
Secondly, he noted that, while the United Nations disaster assessment and
coordi nati on (UNDAC) m ssions organi zed by OCHA had done a superb job, the
teams were staying for evernore | engthy periods and returning nore frequently;
he wondered why that was so. Thirdly, he asked on what basis coordination
took place between the UNDAC and the resident representatives and whether the
terms of reference were the crucial factor

M. KUMAMARU (Japan) asked how the transition from one stage of

assistance to another - beginning with relief and through to rehabilitation
reconstruction and devel opnent - was managed. Hi s inmpression was that, in the
case of a natural disaster, coordination did not present any problens, but he
woul d i ke some further confirmation. Moreover, while an energency brought a
team t oget her, he suspected that, once the energency had passed the team

spirit could be at risk and differences could reappear, thus threatening the



E/ 1999/ SR. 26
page 10

devel opnent stage. It would be interesting to hear, therefore, how the
menbers of the panel thought good teamwrk could be sustained after the relief
effort was over.

M. CUELLO CAM LO (Observer for the Dom nican Republic) stressed

the need for countries at risk to reduce their vulnerability and prepare for
di sasters. Hurricane Georges in Septenber 1998 had caused US$ 200 nillion
worth of damage to his country, anmounting to 14 per cent of its GDP. Half the
country's exports - 43 per cent of its incone - had been lost. In less than
12 hours, 400 mmof rain - a third of the normal annual rainfall - had fallen
W nds had been over 100 km per hour

The support of the international conmmunity, in particular that of other
countries in the region which had thensel ves suffered, had been nopst
gratefully received. OCHA had helped with the transition fromdisaster relief
to sustai nabl e devel opnent for the nost vul nerable sectors of the popul ation
affected. The Government, too, had established a basic energency plan, which
had set up a disaster managenent system and inproved the quality of life

Experience in other countries showed how vital a culture of prevention
was, difficult though it might be to achieve: it was the only way to secure
sonme degree of affordable protection in the future. Cinmate change nmeant that
further disasters were probable. He was therefore anxious to hear how
Governments and international organizations could reduce the cost of dealing
wi th such disasters and how rapid recovery coul d be achieved.

Ms. SOLI'S CASTANEDA (Observer for Guatenmla) expressed her

del egation's gratitude for the speed with which UNDAC m ssions had been
mobi | i zed, under the auspices of the United Nations Resident Coordinator and
with funding from UNDP. OCHA' s coordination of the international response
i medi ately after the disaster had al so been inpressive. |In Guatenala,
particul ar attention had been paid to the effects of the hurricane on the
vul nerabl e sectors of the population, such as displaced persons and refugees,
in order to reduce to a mninumthe threat that they m ght |ose all the gains
brought about by the peace process, which had sought to set new devel opnment in
notion in the country.

One of the recommendations that had energed fromthe workshop hel d at
Santo Domingo in February 1999 was that strategies to mtigate disasters and

reduce environmental vulnerability should be incorporated into devel opnent



E/ 1999/ SR. 26
page 11

projects. Her Governnent supported that recomendati on and, in that context,
she would |i ke to know the current situation regarding the project to
strengthen the Meso- Anerican Biol ogical Corridor, since it would be crucial to
regional activities ainmed at nodi fyi ng devel opnent programres follow ng the
hurricane. Lastly, she endorsed the views of the Adm nistrator of UNDP that
crisis prevention, mtigation of the consequences of crises and the pronotion
of sustainable recovery should be incorporated into devel opnent plans for the
next mllennium

Ms. CHOM AK-SALVI (United States of America) said she noted that

the relative regularity of flooding in Bangl adesh allowed for early systematic
relief planning and that the result of the appeal for agricultural recovery in
that country had resulted in a bunper harvest the follow ng spring. She
wonder ed, therefore, whether it was possible to identify a package of
transition-ready conmponents that could be incorporated in relief appeals for
sudden energencies. Secondly, while United Nations coordination had clearly
been successful, she asked the menmbers of the panel to give their assessnent
of the coordination of bilateral assistance. The thematic groups nethod had
been successful in Honduras and she wondered whether it could be applied

el sewhere

M. ZHU Cunfang (China) said that humanitarian assistance should

al ways pay due attention to the |eading role of the Governnment. The approach
adopted by his own Government follow ng the unprecedented floods in 1998 had
been to strengthen the early warni ng system and i ncrease preparedness by neans
of coordination at every level. Decision-making remained in the hands of the
Government, but civil and mlitary forces were organi zed on the ground to
transfer some popul ations at risk and | ocal people had been nobilized for
disaster relief. Were possible, rehabilitation had been carried out at the
same time as relief.

Coordi nati on between the United Nations and the country concerned shoul d
be strengthened still further in order to inprove the effectiveness of
di saster relief. Cooperation between the United Nati ons and Chi na had,
however, been excellent, for which he expressed his heartfelt appreciation
In 1998, before the disaster, the Mnistry for Civil Affairs had held, with
UNDP, a workshop on disaster prevention and preparedness. OCHA had al so

sponsored an international workshop. His Governnment | ooked forward to further



E/ 1999/ SR. 26
page 12

cooperation in the face of the daunting task of disaster prevention
Devel opi ng countries were always hit the hardest, so the internationa
conmmunity should redouble its efforts to enhance their ability to cope. The
Counci | shoul d al so provide guidance on humanitarian assi stance.

Ms. BROANE (Observer for Ireland) said she was interested in the
role of Governments and | ocal comrunities in disaster management and
prevention, with particular reference to Guatenmala. She wondered how,
following the United Nations reforms, disaster managenent had been built into
devel opnent programres for disaster-prone countries. The need for
coordination was illustrated by the fact that there was not enough awareness
of the tools available, in the formof UNDAC teans, for exanple. She also
wonder ed whet her resident representatives posted to di saster-prone countries
received any kind of systematic training or whether they |earned through
experience and private contacts.

She further asked about the involvenent of NGOs. As a donor country,
Ireland nade it a precondition of any aid that an NGO shoul d coordinate with
the United Nations and, of course, the national authorities. She wondered
whet her coordi nati on nechani sns existed in the countries where the nenbers of
the panel worked; to her know edge, there had been little coordination in
Central Anerica prior to the hurricane. Lastly, she asked OCHA to coment on
its role in strengthening capacity in Honduras and in its activities in the
i mredi at e post-enmergency peri od.

M. RACHI DI (Mrocco), having comrended the work of the
United Nations in hel ping disaster victinm who had suffered nost grievous
| osses, asked what provision was being made for the future. A child who | ost
his or her parents might be in a state of shock for 2, 3 or even 20 years. He
therefore asked if there was any long-termstrategy to deal with structura
problems. He further asked whether coordination existed not only within the
United Nations system but al so between the various |evels of governnent.

Mss LI CONA ALLAM (Honduras) expressed her deep appreciation for

the details given by the nmenbers of the panel and for the spirit of
cooperation, as well as professional and noral support, provided by the OCHA
staff. She reiterated, however, that it was crucial that all countries should

be hel ped to develop their capacity so that they could prepare for disasters.



E/ 1999/ SR. 26
page 13

M. LEUS (World Health Organi zation (WHO)) said that the success
of humanitarian coordi nati on depended on the ability to make full use of the
speci al i zed agencies. Indeed, humanitarian coordi nators were chosen from
anong the agencies, WHO i tself having provided three such coordinators in the
past year. That was, of course, particularly inportant when an energency
could be defined mainly in health terns.

One issue of concern was the Consolidated Appeal Process (CAP), where
WHO saw its primary function as assessing the health inpact of an energency,
in coordination with national authorities, and then nobilizing resources for
use at the local or national level. Wile WHO could offer itself as a channe
for using those resources, that was not its primary function

Anot her matter of concern related to the selection of humanitarian
coordi nators, in which WHO partici pated. WHO was al so i nvol ved in devel opi ng
criteria, but it had some reservations about the appropriateness of those
criteria for emergency situations, for instance, as far as the skills mx was
concerned. It would therefore be interesting to hear from successfu
humani tarian coordinators if they had had to apply a different skills mx or
di fferent conpetences in such situations and whether they had any ot her
conments to nmake on the topic.

Ms. FAHLEN (Qbserver for Sweden) said that the panel's answers
clearly illustrated the devel opmental dinmension of natural disasters and the
gap between humanitarian relief and structural devel opnment assi stance. She
therefore asked how far energency activities and UNDAF/ CCA were i ntegrated.
The answers al so highlighted the costs of natural disasters, particularly in
relation to the Chinese floods and hurricane Mtch: weather-related costs
in 1998 had equalled the total for the whole of the 1980s. There was
therefore a need to invest in preventive devel opnent.

It was, however, interesting to learn fromthe Honduras experience that
destruction could present opportunities for advanci ng devel opnent. That
suggested that a redirection of devel opnent policies was required. She
wonder ed whet her there had been any experience of how far aid had been
effective in supporting such devel opmental transfornmation

Two of the main challenges in an emergency situation were to integrate
the poorest people into the devel opnent mainstream and to get a viable econony

going. It was encouraging that information had been shared on the | essons



E/ 1999/ SR. 26
page 14

| earned from Chi na and she wondered whet her the same approach was being
extended to other areas. |In that context, she suggested that an UNDAC team
could include nmenbers of countries with personal experience of natura

di saster response.

Lastly, she noted that natural disasters sonetinmes coincided with human
conflicts, as in Guatemala or Afghanistan. It would be interesting to |learn
whet her the di saster responses had had a positive inpact on interconmunal
cooperation in societies torn apart by conflict.

M. FERRER RODRI GUEZ (Cuba), after expressing his appreciation for

the assistance provided to his country by the United Nations and the

i nternational comunity, including NG3s, which had provided drugs and ot her
assi stance as part of a general health plan, said that the dead could not be
brought back to life but protection could be provided for both people and
goods in the future. Prevention programres and good nanagenment policies were
required. Natural disasters were inevitable, but they seenmed to have becone
nmore extreme and that was related to man-made activities, which did not always
conply with international environmental agreenents. States had a heavy
responsibility to observe such agreenents in order to mtigate the effects of
such natural disasters.

M. CHELIA (Observer for Argentina) said he fully agreed that
prepar edness, capacity-building and prevention were essential; little nention
had been nmade in the docunentation, however, of the contribution that could be
made by the devel oping countries thenselves. Such a contribution mght be
nmodest, but it would be significant both as a sign of solidarity and as an
expression of a need that m ght have been overlooked. |ndeed, by providing
assi stance a devel oping country mght itself gain sonme benefit.

Ms. LEI TNER (Resi dent Coordi nator for China) said that there was
no contradiction between her roles as UNDP Resident Representative and
United Nations Resident Coordinator in China. As part of its mandate, the
Uni ted Nati ons Devel opment Assi stance Group (UNDAG ensured that the Resident
Coordi nator’s team worked in accordance with the national priorities
establ i shed by the Government.

From a conceptual and operational point of view, the transition from
relief to rehabilitation did not pose a problem Funding for mtigation

efforts was, however, nore easily nobilized in the aftermath of a disaster



E/ 1999/ SR. 26
page 15

In the case of China, it had been environnmental degradation, especially in the
upper reaches of the Yangtze River, that had been responsible for the severity
of the recent floods. Although the problem had |ong since been identified,
donors had been nore forthcom ng foll owi ng the danage assessnments. Wetl and
restoration activities were being given the priority they had | ong deserved,
inter alia through cost-sharing arrangenents.

In el aborating new projects, the country teamtook full account of the
policy of the Chinese Governnent which was to ensure that reconstruction
activities involved not the restoration of what had existed previously, but
the introduction of inprovenents in the hope of mtigating the consequences of
future floods.

The existing United Nations Disaster Managenent Team (UNDMI) in China
woul d be operating as a task force under the recently established CCA the
findings of which would eventually be incorporated into the UNDAF.

The key question was how a country m ght best be prepared to sustain
natural disasters and nove its people out of harms way. |In 1998, the fl oods
in China had caused | osses anmpunting to sone US$ 32 billion, but it was al
too easy, after the event, to state that the situation m ght have been avoi ded
if a prior investment of US$ 3 billion had been nmade. The Chi nese experience
did show, however, that an energency situati on need not always be chaoti c;
gi ven appropriate investnent in preparedness, it could prove to be a
wel | - managed process.

M. LOCKWOOD (Resident Coordinator for Bangl adesh) said that, from

the field perspective, there was no apparent contradiction between his teanis

devel opnent and humani tarian functions. The frequent disasters to which
Bangl adesh was prone neant that humanitarian activities forned an integra
part of the devel opnent agenda. The country experience accumnul ated by OCHA
had proved nost useful in hel ping new personnel settle in the field and had
contributed significantly to the effectiveness of the appeal process.

The frequent natural disasters in Bangl adesh nerely exacerbated the
“ongoi ng, silent energency” of child malnutrition, which was daily responsible
for sone 600 deaths. United Nations relief efforts could provide little nore
than a tenmporary respite

I n Bangl adesh, the United Nations resident coordinator system had al ways

pl ayed a central role in mobilizing funds to support the Governnment’s needs



E/ 1999/ SR. 26
page 16

and in ensuring rapid and objective coordi nati on of donor and comrunity
efforts, including in the period imediately prior to the arrival of a
cycl one.

M. OBERTI (Resident Coordinator for the Dom nican Republic)
stressed that the Governnment played a crucial role in responding to
energencies, as in the case of hurricane Georges; United Nations activities
were intended to further the national efforts. The CGovernnent of the
Dom ni can Republic had created a “solidarity fund” through which all resources
for dealing with the energency had been channelled. The Governnent had al so
negoti ated | oans and the deferral of debts to increase the funds avail able for
relief purposes.

It was vital that international assistance should focus on addressing
t he causes of natural disasters. The Resident Coordinator’s team was
commtted to supporting national efforts to mtigate their inpact, inter alia
through strategic planning and | ocal involvenent in disaster prevention and
deci si on-maki ng. The Covernnent of the Dom nican Republic had, noreover,
establ i shed a mechanismto coordinate the efforts of NGOs with the cl ose
i nvol venment of the United Nations.

Ms. MESA (Resident Coordinator for Honduras) said that the Wrld
Bank and | ADB had contributed significantly to relief efforts in Honduras in
the i medi ate aftermath of hurricane Mtch. The Wrld Bank had further
pl edged nore than US$ 5 miIlion for addressing |ong-termissues such as
ecol ogical vulnerability. The disaster had served to accelerate the
coordi nati on process al ready under way in the country, including the
establ i shnment of a United Nations House for Latin Anerica and the Caribbean in
Honduras. Disaster prevention programes had been incorporated into the UNDAF
for the country.

Al though it was normally the Government which played the primary role in
coordi nation, the United Nations had provided essential support in the
aftermath of the hurricane which had destroyed a nunber of governnment
prem ses, including the Mnistry of Education and the Mnistry of Public
Wor ks.



E/ 1999/ SR. 26
page 17

Following Mtch, the United Nations had provi ded support to donors
wi shing to establish bases in Honduras, notably the Netherlands and sone
Nordi c countries. A nunber of devel oping countries had provided significant
assi stance to Honduras in its hour of need, including Mexico, Argentina and
Cuba.
M. MOUNTAIN (Director, Ofice for the Coordination of
Humani tarian Affairs (OCHA)) said that the role of OCHA had been to provide

maxi mum support to the country through the resident coordinator systemin
conjunction with the United Nations specialized agencies. Regular bulletins
provided a link with the international comunity.

The United Nations Devel opment Assi stance G oup (UNDAG consisted of
personnel made avail able at 24 hours notice by Governnents and specialized
agencies to provide skilled assistance to the resident coordinators in
disaster-afflicted areas, typically for a two-week period. There were
currently some 120 persons on the active roster

Al t hough the current discussion was focusing on the devastation caused
by fl oods and cyclones, it should be noted that OCHA had al so recently been
dealing with the consequences of forest fires, with earthquakes and with
droughts. Over the years, OCHA had al so sought to devel op | ocal capacity in
di saster-prone areas, notably in Latin America, Asia and the South Pacific.

A neeting initiated by the Pan Anerican Health Organi zati on/World Heal th
Organi zati on (PAHO VWHO) with inter-agency and OCHA support had recently been
hel d at Santo Domi ngo, to consider the |essons |earned from exercises
conducted collectively inter alia in response to hurricanes Mtch and Georges,
the floods in China and the earthquake in Afghanistan

By nmeans of situation reports on natural disasters, OCHA sought to
provi de details of the contributions made in cash and kind in order to inform
bot h donors and actors on the ground. OCHA worked with UNDP to ensure cl ose
coordination with the resident coordi nator system and arranged briefings,
courses and regional meetings with resident representatives. Meetings were
al so held regularly in Geneva and New York and two regional disaster advisors
were avail able, together with staff in Geneva, to provide support as required.
Panel on conpl ex energencies

Ms. CRAVERO- KRI STOFFERSON ( Resi dent and Humani tari an Coor di nat or

for Burundi) cited the exanple of a 10 year-old girl fromthe Burundi an



E/ 1999/ SR. 26
page 18

provi nce of Ruyigi whose father and uncle had di sappeared and the rest of
whose fam |y had been forced to flee to a refugee canp in Tanzania. Thanks to
the conbined efforts of the United Nations Hi gh Comr ssioner for Refugees
(UNHCR), the local authorities and WFP, the fam |y had returned and was being
hel ped to rebuild in its devastated village. For that famly, the transition
fromrelief to devel opment was not a theoretical construct. It was enbodied
in an enpty school, a non-functioning water system a closed health centre and
a comunity of adults |acking hope and direction

Thanks to the generosity of the international comrunity, the famly had
survived, but there was nmore to life than charity. The United Nations country
teamin Burundi was committed to the regeneration of comunities once initia
humani tari an support had been provided and mnimal security achieved. Such
regeneration efforts provided an essential inpetus for peace.

The teami s efforts were hanmpered in Burundi by a number of factors, npst
notably the persistent violence. Four provinces were currently paral ysed by
armed conflict, with “hit-and-run” attacks on the increase in the eastern part
of the country. The violence was unpredictable and | acked political or
mlitary objectives. It merely served to terrorize the people, disrupt the
delivery of humanitarian assistance and threaten progress towards peace. The
targets were purely civilian.

A further obstacle to progress was the abject poverty which afflicted
the country. Even before the nmost recent crisis, Burundi had been one of the
poorest countries in the world. Over the past six years, poverty |evels had
i ncreased by 80 per cent, and every social indicator was in decline.

Sl ow progress in the peace negotiations constituted a third chall enge.
The deep-seated nature of the conflict indicated that it would take years for
agreenents to be put in place. 1In that context, the “wait-and-see” attitude
of the international comunity was to be regretted, involving, as it did,
del ayi ng reconstructi on assi stance pending the “success” of the negotiations.
It was a matter for concern that external aid had decreased from
US$ 288 million in 1992 to US$ 39 million in 1997.

The country team was, however, convinced that progress was possible and
that devel opnent was inextricably linked to peace. Two-thirds of the country
had, after all, known relative stability for a year or nore; such areas were

in desperate need of devel opnent support rather than humanitarian aid. The



E/ 1999/ SR. 26
page 19

team s optimsmwas al so based on its experience with sustainable
reinstallation activities, which included the reconstruction of basic services
and local infrastructure. That experience had provided the foundation for
nmore systematic, nulti-agency efforts.

A further positive factor was the consensus which existed anong
United Nations agencies, NGOs and national actors with regard to the approach
whi ch nust be adopted towards the transition fromrelief to devel opnent in
Burundi. Local participation in reconstruction efforts was essential and
woul d be greatly facilitated by the recent decision of the Brookings
Institution Round Table to accel erate support for comunity devel opment in
Bur undi

Over the past 12 nonths, the United Nations country team in
col | aboration with the Governnment and a wi de range of partners, had devel oped
a broad-based strategy to facilitate the transition to devel opnent. That
strategy contai ned three key conponents. The first was “constructive
engagenent”, which involved ongoi ng dial ogue with all the players working
towards reconstruction and peace. It also involved reinforcing basic
infrastructure and pronoting good governance and human rights. The second
el ement was the “sustainable reinstallation” of displaced and refugee
famlies, which depended on the comunity’s willingness to nmove and on there
bei ng adequate security conditions in the place of resettlenment. The third
el ement of the strategy was “direct country assistance” in the formof a UNDP
unbrel | a progranme whi ch had inter-agency assistance. The priority of that
programe was to help displaced famlies regain their social and economc
viability and to further |ocal capacity-building; it would primarily be
i mpl emented through NGOs with | ong-standing ties to the comunities involved.
Atotal of US$ 12 mllion would be required for full inplementation over the
following two years. Significantly, the programe was viewed as a
transitional arrangenent pending the restoration of bilateral cooperation and
gover nment mechani sis.

The girl she had nentioned would certainly thank the internationa
comunity for keeping her famly alive. She would also ask for the killing to

stop, and for all Burundians to return home in safety to wel com ng



E/ 1999/ SR. 26
page 20

comunities. No doubt she would al so ask for an education, a decent chance of
surviving childbirth, and opportunities for enploynent. She would probably
want nmore than survival: a guarantee of her human rights and a future of
peace, dignity and hope.

M. STRIPPO.lI (Humanitarian Coordi nator for Angola) said that

there was a great human tragedy in the making in Angola. Mny thousands of
peopl e woul d die without the necessary support fromthe internationa
comunity. Despite the country’ s natural wealth, which included oil and

di anonds, the overwhelmi ng majority of Angol ans were subject to increasingly
abj ect poverty. Three decades of armed conflict, with only a few years of
intermttent respite, had resulted in an alarm ng deterioration in socia
devel opnent indicators and a persistent structural enmergency. Up to

1.7 mllion people had been displaced from productive agricultural to urban
areas, causing a reduction in donestic agricultural production and a greater
dependency on inports and relief assistance.

War econony and “war logic” had led to increased national indebtedness
and a reduced budget for social devel opnent, resulting in a virtual collapse
of the public health and education systems. Not only did Angol a have one of
the highest infant nortality rates in the world, but the past few generations
of Angol an children, even those in safe areas, had been characterized by
decreased | evel s of physical and nental devel opnent. The downward
soci o-econom ¢ spiral would take generations to correct.

During the nmost recent period of positive transition from 1995 to 1998,
mechani snms had been el aborated to deal with the lack of predictability of the
humani tarian situation, which had served as effective tools for managi ng the
current “reverse transition”. One such tool was the Consolidated Appea
Process (CAP) for ensuring a common humanitarian strategy to enable the
speci al i zed agencies to address i mredi ate energency needs jointly, as well as
the early phases of rehabilitation. In that context, the |land distribution
policy recently introduced by the Governnent was of particular note, serving
as it did to provide arable land to internally displaced persons and thus
reduce dependency on food aid.

There had been sone early joint planning nmechani sms, such as the
Humani tari an Coordi nation G oup (HCG created at the national level in 1995

and expanded to the provinces, with sectoral sub-working groups. There was



E/ 1999/ SR. 26
page 21

al so the round-table process that identified progranmes at the devel opnent end
of the transition scale. 1In spite of those mechani snms, the Decenber 1998
resunpti on of war had conplicated the delivery of energency assistance and had
forced agencies to revert fromrehabilitation activities to relief assistance
programes, thenselves hindered by time constraints and restrictive donor
fundi ng mechani sms.

There could be no sinplistic approach to relief and rehabilitation in
conplex transition cycles. Danage to a country no |onger at war could stil
requi re an emergency response, while such activities in one area of a country
did not preclude the need for rehabilitation action el sewhere. Funding should
therefore be flexible. The sane was true of emergency preparedness, vital in
a country like Angola, which could always rel apse into enmergency once again
The team was hel ping the Governnent to assune a nore prom nent role in
assi stance coordi nation and could not afford to await a cal ner period.
Progress had been made in teaching the nation not only to deal with
war - i nduced energencies, but also to correct social and econom c decline.

G ven the deteriorating humanitarian conditions and the dearth of
resources, the humanitarian-aid community anal ysed vulnerability on a
case-by-case basis in order to address the nost critical needs, such as the
condition of host communities, an approach that had reduced conpetition for
scarce resources in and around besieged cities. That being said, humanitarian
conditions were expected to deteriorate rapidly, as was the status of the
currently “less vul nerable”.

There was an under standabl e donor fatigue regardi ng Angola, and a rapid
deterioration of nutritional and general humanitarian conditions was expected
by early 2000, requiring donors to provide spirited and coll aborative
humanitarian aid and the political will to settle the conflict so that the
country could enjoy a | engthy period of sustainable devel opment. He urged the
Council to seek effective responses to the plight of Angola and of other
nations in conflict.

M. MORTON (Humanitarian Coordinator for the Denocratic People's
Republic of Korea) said that the thene of the segnent was highly relevant to
the country of his assignment. As suggested in the background paper, food
self-reliance, called for economic as well as agricultural rehabilitation

Wth only 20 per cent of arable |land and short grow ng seasons, the country



E/ 1999/ SR. 26
page 22

had been primarily industrial but, with the decline of trading relations with
the Eastern European countries in the early 1990s, the fertilizer industry had
been hard hit, reducing crop production. The pressure to step up food
producti on had danaged the environnment and rmade it nore susceptible to

fl oodi ng and ot her natural disasters. Wile food-production programres
deserved support and coul d ease costs and suffering, they were unlikely to
produce total self-reliance, which also required econom c recovery.

However, in the current political environment and franmework, donors,
although willing to provide humanitarian assistance, were reluctant to give
maj or support to recovery problens. Full coordination within and between the
two was vital. There were two directly linked and conpl ementary coordi nation
mechani sms in the country: the CAP for humanitarian programres, and the
round-tabl e process for recovery and rehabilitation programmes. Collaboration
was particularly close anong the small but close-knit United Nations
conmuni ty, the European Union and NGOs, with well-attended weekly neetings.

Al so, a working group of United Nations agencies, NGCs and donors had met in
1998 and drawn up a Comon Humanitarian Action Plan (CHAP) as its 1999 CAP, an
approach that had been invaluable for strategy formnulation and the inclusion
of transition programres. Details of the programmes were provided in the
background paper

The CHAP had a nunber of short-termgoals relating to food aid, support
to health services, agricultural rehabilitation, and nationa
capacity-building in all those areas and in disaster preparedness and
mtigation, led by the International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent
Societies (IFRC). Sadly, the paltry funding of all the agencies was
particularly bad in the case of WHO, whose action was crucial. NGO
i nvol venent and confidence was so great that 4 of the country's 10 had chosen
to integrate their appeals into the CHAP itself, rather than consign themto
annexes.

At the recomrendati on of the Executive Commttee for Humanitarian
Affairs, a neeting to review the problenm s humanitarian and devel opnent a
di mensi ons had been organized by OCHA and UNDP. It had reached consensus on a
joint strategy for the United Nations system and endorsed a position paper
prepared by the country teamoutlining a conprehensive three-track approach to

recovery and change, nanely continued funding for humanitarian progranmnes;



E/ 1999/ SR. 26
page 23

gradual inplementation of the UNDP Agricul tural Recovery and Environnenta
Protection Plan (AREP) as an exit strategy for emergency activities and a

bri dge to sustainabl e devel opment; and agency concentrati on on

capaci ty-building, including the UNDP training programes on market econom es
and transition issues.

In conclusion, while aid had mtigated a humanitarian catastrophe, and
conditions had inproved for many in the previous two years, there was stil
consi derabl e hardshi p, which had increased the nortality rate by 37 per cent.
The inproved access to the country and to information and the better
under st andi ng between the Government and the agencies had to be sustained.
VWhile humanitarian aid was pronoting recovery and rehabilitation
simul taneously with relief, to the extent that they were funded, econonic
recovery was the ultimte goal

M. MANGOAELA (Lesotho) said that, at the start of the segment on

the previous day, the thesis had been propounded that many conflict situations
stemed from “horizontal inequalities”, Burundi being a prime exanple of a
country where one group excluded others fromcertain advantages. He agreed
wi th the Humani tarian Coordi nator for Burundi that there could be no peace
wi t hout devel opnent, and vice versa, and wel coned her portrayal of Burundi as
a country of relative calm He wondered whether there was any prospect of
addressing the underlying causes of the conflict and whether there was any
sign that the exclusion of one group by another was being mtigated. The
preci pitous decline in international assistance to Burundi was unfortunate,
since the victinms of reduced aid or of sanctions were seldomthe actua
perpetrators of the evils. He presuned that the Coordinator's remark that
Burundi was ignored by the international community referred to the non-African
world since he knew that the country's African nei ghbours had done their best
to restore it to a situation in which ordinary people could live in peace

M. STREJCZEK (Pol and) said that his country's recent bilatera

project in the Denocratic People's Republic of Korea had provided 50 tons of

hi gh-yi el d seed potatoes to increase food production. That project, which
could be adapted to other countries, served as a tool for changing the rice
nmonocul ture and overcom ng the food deficit. H's Government was interested in

conti nui ng and possi bly expanding that project, with United Nations assistance



E/ 1999/ SR. 26
page 24

in connection with the transfer of new brands of seed potatoes, the
organi zati on of workshops, and the nonitoring of production, all of which
m ght be incorporated into the AREP

M. KUMAMARU (Japan) said he would like to know what action the

coordi nators took to ensure the safety of the humanitarian workers and peace
negotiators in their dialogues with the Governnents of Angol a and Burundi
M. BAHAMONDES (Canada), referring to the conment about the

i nportance of an enabling environnment for Burundi, said that the reason for
hesitation in resource commi tnment was that the donors were concerned that the
political issues at the heart of the conflicts were not being adequately
addressed. W thout an enabling environnment conducive to reconciliation and

i nclusion, there was a distinct possibility that the relief devel opnent
transition would nove far ahead of any political process, wth enornous
attendant risks. In the case of Burundi, he thus wel comed the dedi cated work,
l ed by Julius Nyerere, that was being done to find sustainable politica
solutions to a very unfortunate situation

Ms. CHOM AK-SALVI (United States of America) said that, in the

exanpl es given for both Angola and Burundi, there was all too nuch evidence of
a “cycling back to violence”. She wondered whether that could have been
prevented by aspects of humanitarian action in the transition fromrelief to
devel opnent. She al so wi shed to know how the humanitarian coordi nators
assessed the inprovenents nmade in the 1999 CAP process.

M. BACKSTROM (Observer for Finland) said that, on a recent visit

to the Denocratic People's Republic of Korea, he had met the Humanitarian
Coordi nator and had been pl eased to observe the aid agencies' inproved access,
and the better understandi ng between them and the CGovernnment. He al so

wel comred the fact that the CAP process had been found useful. He asked what
were the expectations for 1999 and whet her any positive devel opnments were

envi saged for the near future at a crucial period for the Korean peninsul a.

M. AHN Ho-young (Republic of Korea) said that he had closely

foll owed the panel discussions on natural disasters and man-made disasters,
and had gained the inpression that, while natural disasters were tragic,

man- made di sasters were both tragic and shameful. Humanitarian assistance



E/ 1999/ SR. 26
page 25

was, however, crucial in both situations. The very clear nessage he had
received fromthe Coordinator's statement was that short-termfood relief
woul d not solve the food crisis in the Denocratic People's Republic of Korea
and that econom c devel opment was needed. The Coordinator's remark that such
devel opnent was hanpered by the political situation needed sonme clarification
A multiplicity of policy goals were being pursued vis-a-vis North Korea, one
bei ng humani tarian assi stance, and others, including those relating to the
proliferation of weapons of mass destruction, anpng and within which there

m ght, unfortunately, be some conflict, in view of North Korean policies. The
Coordi nator had also referred to the inmportance of fertilizers for his own
country, although it was currently supplying North Korea with 200,000 tons of
fertilizer.

Ms. FAHLEN (Qoserver for Sweden), said that several references
had been nmade the previous day to the work of the Devel opnent Assistance
Committee (DAC) of the Organization for Econonm c Cooperation and Devel opnent
(CECD) in developing aid policy strategies responsive to conflict situations
and fragile peace. Speaking as Chairperson of the DAC s work on the issue,
she said that it was vital to obtain a suitable mx of humanitarian and ot her
forms of devel opnental aid, while humanitarian assistance could assune a
devel opnent al perspective. The Humanitarian Coordi nator for Angola had
mentioned two i ssues that represented severe constraints: a sinplistic
approach to the aid instrunent and inflexible funding nmechani snms. Both had
been addressed in the DAC gui delines on devel opment cooperation in conflict
situations and for peace-building. She hoped that the various coordinators
woul d exam ne and comment on the DAC gui delines so that they could be adapted
to field conditions. More generally, she hoped that the country teams woul d
become actively engaged in the donors' policy work.

Ms. CRAVERO- KRI STOFFERSON ( Resi dent and Humani tari an Coordi nat or

for Burundi), replying to the representative of Lesotho, said she was

optim stic about the prospects for the reduction of structural inequalities,
whi ch were being nore frankly di scussed than ever before. She assured him
that she had not neant to inply that Burundi was being ignored; only that
devel opnent assi stance had been denied it for the previous three years. It
was far from being ignored either by its neighbours, or in terms of strictly

defi ned humani tari an assi stance.



E/ 1999/ SR. 26
page 26

To the question by the representative of Japan as to what was bei ng done
to ensure the safety of humanitarian workers, she said that humanitarian
activities were usually suspended when safety probl ens becane insupportabl e,
and that left over 500,000 residents of sites throughout the country even nore
vul nerabl e than before. Efforts were being nade, however, to devel op better
| ocal security systens, in collaboration with the national and | oca
authorities. In reply to the representative of Canada, she said that
assi stance was an incentive to devel op an enabling environment. One inportant
guestion was the extent to which deep-seated structural inequalities needed to
be addressed before children had access to basic services and what the
interplay was between children's access to basic services and the long-term
addressing of those structural inequalities.

She infornmed the representative of the United States that her team
believed that one of the ways of preventing a return to violence was to
provi de basic education that did not repeat past mstakes. It was frustrating
that Burundi had received such little response to the CAP, on which her team
has done a great deal of work, unless one counted food aid, which was not
al ways supplied through a CAP. She told the observer for Sweden that she
| ooked forward to exam ning the DAC guidelines.

M. STRIPPOLLI (Humanitarian Coordinator for Angola), replying to

the representative of Japan, said that humanitarian workers in Angol a risked

their lives to deliver essential humanitarian assistance to the people in the
country's many besi eged pl aces who depended on it. The safety conditions had
to be assessed on a day-to-day basis. Conflict called not only for increased
donor support but also for the political will to resolve the conflict and to

achi eve an enduring peace.

He informed the representative of Canada that there was nothing dogmatic
about his team s behaviour; they seized every opportunity to settle displaced
persons temporarily so that they could produce their own food, with the
prospect of subsequently returning home.

Replying to the representative of the United States, he said that a nore
aggressive role of humanitarian assistance in the peace process m ght have

contributed to a continued dial ogue between the two parties.



E/ 1999/ SR. 26
page 27

M. MORTON (Humanitarian Coordinator for the Denocratic People’
Republic of Korea), replying to the representative of Poland, said that
UNDP/ FAO wel comed hi s suggestion regarding the seed potato project. He
informed the representative of the United States that, while the CAP had been
considered highly positive in the Denpocratic People's Republic of Korea, the
July 1999 figures showed it to be less effective as a fund-raising expedient.
He explained to the observer for Finland that it was hard to predict the crop
situation before Cctober, but that there would probably be a substantia

shortfall as the country was not basically an agricultural one.

The neeting rose at 1.15 p.m




